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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

CARRIE BETH GENT,
Plaintiff, No. 3:17-cv-02075 (SRU)

V.
NANCY A. BERRYHILL, Acting

Commissioner of Social Security,
Defendant.

RULING ON CROSSMOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

In the instant Social Security appeal, GaBeth Gent (“Gent”) moves to reverse the
decision by the Social Security Administaati(“SSA”) denying her diability insurance
benefits. The Commissioner of Social Secunityves to affirm the decision. Because the
decision by the Administrative Law Judge (“&l) was supported by substantial evidence, |
grant the Commissioner’s motion and deny Gent’s.

l. Standard of Review

The SSA follows a five-step process to evaluate disability claBedian v. Astrug708
F.3d 409, 417 (2d Cir. 2013) (per curiam). fitse Commissioner determines whether the
claimant currently engages ‘isubstantial gainful activity."Greek v. Colvin802 F.3d 370, 373
n.2 (2d Cir. 2015) (per curiam) (citing 20 C.F§404.1520(b)). Second, if the claimant is not
working, the Commissioner determines whetherctagnant has a “severe’ impairment,” i.e.,
an impairment that limits his or her abilitydo work-related activities {ysical or mental)Id.
(citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(c), 404.1521). Thirthe claimant does not have a severe
impairment, the Commissioner determines whethe impairment is considered “per se

disabling” under SSA regulation$d. (citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(d), 404.1525, 404.1526).
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If the impairment is not per se disabling,rihbefore proceeding to step four, the Commissioner
determines the claimant’s “residual functionapacity” based on “all threlevant medical and
other evidence of record.d. (citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(a)(4e), 404.1545(a)). “Residual
functional capacity” is defined as “what the ataint can still do despite the limitations imposed
by his [or her] impairment.1d. Fourth, the Commissioneraddes whether the claimant’s
residual functional capacity allows him orhe return to “past relevant workfd. (citing 20
C.F.R. 88 404.1520(e), (), 404.1560(WHjfth, if the claimant canot perform past relevant
work, the Commissioner determines, “based on the claimant’s residual functional capacity,”
whether the claimant can do “other workstixg in significant numbers in the national
economy.” Id. (citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(g), 404.159D(Bhe process is “sequential,”
meaning that a petitioner will be judged disalbedy if he or she satisfies all five criteri&ee

id.

The claimant bears the ultimate burden to ptitnag he or she vgadisabled “throughout
the period for which benefits are sought,” as wethasburden of proof ithe first four steps of
the inquiry. Id. at 374 (citing 20 C.F.R. 8§ 404.1512(e&5glian 708 F.3d at 418. If the claimant
passes the first four steps, however, there isratéd burden shift” to ta Commissioner at step
five. Poupore v. Astrues66 F.3d 303, 306 (2d Cir. 2009) (perriam). At step five, the
Commissioner need only show that “there igknva the national econontpat the claimant can
do; he [or she] need not provide additionatlence of the claimant’s residual functional
capacity.” Id.

In reviewing a decision by the Commissioneconduct a “plenary review” of the
administrative record but do not deciderd®o whether a claimant is disabld8rault v. Soc.

Sec. Admin., Comn)’'683 F.3d 443, 447 (2d Ci2012) (per curiamsee Mongeur v. Heckler
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722 F.2d 1033, 1038 (2d Cir. 1983) (per curiam) (“EtReviewing court is required to examine
the entire record, includingatradictory evidence and eedce from which conflicting
inferences can be drawn.”). | may reverse@ommissioner’s decision “only if it is based upon
legal error or if the factual findings are not sugied by substantial evidea in the record as a
whole.” Greek 802 F.3d at 374—-75. The “substantial evidence” standard is “very deferential,”
but it requires “more than a mere scintilldBtault, 683 F.3d at 447-48. Rather, substantial
evidence means “such relevant evidenceraasonable mind might accept as adequate to
support a conclusion.Greek 802 F.3d at 375. Unless the Comsioner relied on an incorrect
interpretation of the law, “[i]f there is subst&l evidence to supportéldetermination, it must
be upheld.”Selian 708 F.3d at 417.
. Facts

Gent applied for Social Security dishilyiinsurance benefits on February 6, 2015,
alleging that she had been disabled siwgust 1, 2001. Later, she amended the alleged
disability onset date to December 10, 2007. ALJ Decision, R. at 11. Gent identified her
disabilities as, among other thingdiscectomy of the lumbar Bpe, anxiety, and depression.”
Compl., Doc. No. 1 at 1 4. €SSA initially denied Gent’s claim on June 15, 2015, finding that
although Gent’s “condition result[ed] in some limitations in [her] ability to perform work related
activities, . . . [her] condition [was] not sevengough to keep [her] from working.” Disability
Determination Explanation (Initial), R. 80. The SSA adhered to its decision upon
reconsideration on January 12, 2016. Supplem&eizlrity Income Note of Reconsideration,
R. at 144. Gent then requested a hearingrbefo ALJ, which was held on May 24, 2017. Tr.
of ALJ Hr'g, R. at 37. At the hearing, AlEdward F. Sweeney questioned Gent and her non-

attorney representative abdbént’s three pending claims, ieh included applications for
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Disability Insurance Benefits, Supplemental Sgéguncome Benefits, and Disabled Adult Child
Benefits. Tr. of ALJ Hr'g, R. at 37. Durirtter testimony, Gent voluntarily withdrew both of
her Title Il claims, leaving only the chaifor Supplemental Security Incomkd. at 41.

The ALJ questioned Gent about her work higttwer alleged ailments, and her ability to
perform daily working and living functions. ¢&mn 2002 to 2007, Gent testified that she worked
approximately 30 hours per week as a narddyat 44. She testified that she “took some classes
in college,” but has not worked at all since 20@ent also testifiethat she suffered from
“excruciating pain that . . . kept [her] fromibg able to stand or even get out of betll” at 45.
Gent testified that ghunderwent back surgery in 2011; lewmer, she could not “sit, stand, or
walk for any amount of time.’ld. Gent explained that she ex@nces panic attacks roughly
twice a week, and that eachisgale lasts approximately 30 miegt During her testimony, Gent
described debilitating bouts of degsion that last two or three dayShe also testified that she
suffers from incontinence, which limits her ability“do things.” When pressed, Gent clarified
that she “[doesn’t] have an accident, but [slwjl@ almost have one alrsioevery day, if [she]
didn’t make it to a bathroom in timeld. at 51.

With respect to her lifestyl&ent reported that she drivegery day, shops for groceries,
visits friends, uses a computendaspends time outside with her dodg. at 43—-49. On
occasion, Gent babysits for her friends. She talstified that she requires “a lot of assistance
with household chores, gscially laundry.”Id. at 48. Gent explained that she could only
prepare “quick snacks” because she could raotdstor long periods in front of a stovkl. at 49.

The ALJ also heard testimony from a vaecaal expert, Hank Lerner. The ALJ
presented Lerner with a hypothetical of a persbo twas limited to a range of work defined as

light with occasional . . . l@ncing, stooping, kneeling, crouchiramd crawling,” and who could
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“understand, remember, and carry out simplegasla setting with acasional public contact

and occasional contact with co-workers$d. at 57-58. Lerner testifigtiat such a person could
be employed in positions that require lightdés of exertion, suchs “unskilled, simple

assembly positions.1d. at 58. In the second hypothetidhle ALJ asked Lerner to “further
assume this individual is limited torange of work defined as sedentaryd: at 59. In

response, Lerner listed variopgsitions, classified as sedentand unskilled, available in the
national economyld. at 59. Lerner explained that some positions would require “some public
contact” but the contact would Bigeeting . . . you know, secondsld. at 59. Lerner further
testified that Gent would be unable to perfdren past work as a nanny because the position of

child monitor is defined by the Dictionary @fccupational Titles as a semi-skilled position

requiring medium exertionld. at 58. When the ALJ presentidg third hypothetical question to
the vocational expert, he asked whether there j@bseavailable for an individual who required
“periods of rest or absence would otherwise have unpredictalperiods of time off task.1d.
at 60. Lerner replied that iféhhypothetical person required peri@dsest or absence “greater
than 10%” of a typical workday, then jobsldiot exist in the econoyfor that personid.

After the hearing, on June 7, 2017, the ALJéskan opinion in which he found that
Gent “ha[d] not been under asdbility within the meaning dhe Social Security Act since
February 6, 2015, the date the apgtiien was filed.” ALJ DecisiorR. at 12. At the first step,
the ALJ found that Gent “ha[d] not engagedirbstantial gainful actity since February 6,
2015, the application dateld. at 14. At the second step, tAkJ found that Gent’s “status-post
discectomy of the lumbar spine, anxiety, aegression” were “severe impairments” that

“significantly limit[ed] [her] ability to perform basic work activities.”ld.

1 The ALJ ruled that Gent’s claimed urinary incontineand obesity did not represent, “either singly or in
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At the third step, the ALJ determined thgent’s] physical impairments, considered
singly and in combination, [did] not meet or mediga@lqual the criteria of any impairment listed
in 1.04, 12.04, or 12.06.1d. at 15 The ALJ then assessed Gemésidual functional capacity
and found that she could “perform light work with occasional climbing of ramps and stairs;
never climbing of ladders, ropes, or scaffy and occasional balancing, stooping, kneeling,
crouching, or crawling.”ld. at 17. The ALJ also determindtht Gent was “able to understand,
remember, and carry out simple tasks in arsgttiith occasional publicontact and occasional
contact with co-workers.'ld.

Although Gent'’s residual futional capacity would not al@ her “to perform any past
relevant work,” ALJ Sweeney determined that fthare jobs that exigt significant numbers in
the national economy that [Gent] [could] performid. at 24. Relying on “the testimony of the
vocational expert,” the ALJ ruldtiat Gent “[was] capable of tkimg a successful adjustment to
other work that exists in sigidant numbers in the national econg,” and that “[a] finding of
‘not disabled’ [was] therefore appropriatdd. at 25.

Gent requested a review of the ALJ’'s d&mn by the SSA’s AppesiCouncil on June 20,
2017. Request for Review of Hearing Decisianl€, R. at 247. Findintpat there was “no
reason . . . to review the [ALJ]'s decision,ethppeals Council “dente[Gent’s] request for
review” on October 11, 2017. Notioé Appeals Council Action, R. at 6. Gent then filed a
complaint in this Court on December 13, 201qguessting that | reverse the Commissioner’s

decision. Compl., Doc. No. 1.

combination with everything else, more than a minimal limitation in the ability to perform basic work
activities.” Although Gent reported “experiencing samghttime urinary incontinence, laboratory testing
revealed generally normal findings.” ALJ DecisiongR14-15. With respect to Gent’s obesity, the ALJ
explained that “the record [did] not show that [Gent] complained of any limitations or symptoms from this
condition.”ld. at 15.
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IIl.  Discussion

On appeal, Gent does not challenge the Alfifidings that she “ha[d] not engaged in
substantial gainful activity since February 6, 20¥4.J Decision, R. at 14; that she suffered
from a number of “severe impairments,” suclsiatus-post discectomy of the lumbar spine,
anxiety, and depressionid.; that her impairments did not “meet medically gual the criteria
of any impairment listed in 1.04, 12.04, or 12.06,"at 15; and that “therare jobs that exist in
significant numbers in the national economy” thgterson with the residufunctional capacity
found by the ALJ could perforng. at 24. Instead, she attadke ALJ’s residual functional
capacity finding at step four and theocess by which the ALJ arrived at it.

The issues for my review are (1) whetttee ALJ properly weighed the medical opinion
evidence, (2) and whether the ALJ properly evada&ent’s testimony. The first issue appears
partly to be a legal question subject to de n@xdew—insofar as it turns on whether the ALJ
properly applied SSA regulations—and parthb&oa factual question where the ALJ’s “findings
must be given conclusive effect so longlasy are supported by substantial eviden&ee
Genier v. Astrug606 F.3d 46, 49 (2d Cir. 2010) (per cur)gimternal quotation marks omitted).
The second issue is a factual question that brisfffirmed if there is substantial evidence

supporting the ALJ’s determination.

A. Did the ALJ properly evaluatihe medical opinion evidence?

Gent argues that the ALJ'®dsion improperly gave only stial weight” to opinions
from Gent's treating physicians in determini@gnt’s residual funatinal capacity, and instead
assigned “substantial weight” to non-examinirgfestagency physicians. Pl.’'s Mem. Supp. Mot.
J. Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at 2. With resgiecgent’s physical impairments, the ALJ gave

“partial weight” or “little weight” to the opiions of Dr. Phyllis Grable-Esposito, Gent’s
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neurologist, because Dr. Grable-Esposito’s caicluregarding the level of Gent’s pain was not
supported “with objective medical evidence and filed to provide a fuctional assessment of
[Gent’s] abilities or limitations ALJ Decision, R. at 21. N, the ALJ assigned “partial
weight” or “little weight” tothe opinions of Dr. Thomas Rkland, Gent’s treating physician
since March of 2014, because Dr. Rockland’s fiapis [were] inconstent with [Gent’s]
documented activities.1d. The ALJ then assigned “significaweight” to the opinions of the
State agency consultants becauseiftfindings [were] consistemtith the medical evidence . . .
[and] the evidence submitted since they renddrenl opinions [did] not show that [Gent’s]
conditions [had] significantly worsenedlt. at 23. With respect to Gent’s mental impairments,
the ALJ assigned “partial weight” to the Ma916 opinion of Advanced Practice Registered
Nurse (“Nurse”) Kitty Ansaldi because her opinion was only “partially consistent with the
medical evidence of record as a whole,” whstipported “some level of limitation in [the]
domains of functioning, [but didjot support the moderate-to-meadklevel of limitation opined”

by Nurse Ansaldi.ld. at 22.

1. Dr. Grable-Esposito and Dr. Thomas Rockland

Gent contends that the ALJ should haixen her treating physicians’ opinions
“controlling weight” under SSA gulations, Pl.’s Mem. Supp. Mal. Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at
5 (citing 20 C.F.R. 8§ 416.927(c)(2pt—if the ALJ “did not err byefusing to adopt the physical
limitations described by Drs. Grable-Espositwl Rockland”— he should have weighed the
opinions “under all of the relevant factglisted] in 20 C.F.R. § 416.927(c)(2)-(6)Id at 6. The
Commissioner responds that “the [ALJ] is notngelled to adopt, or even to assign the most

weight to, a treating source opani when there is sufficient coatlictory evidence.” Def.’s



Mem. Supp. Mot. Affirm, Doc. No. 22 at 4After examining the read, | agree with the
Commissioner.
“The treating physician rule provides thatAinJ should defer to ‘to the views of the

physician who has engaged in the primary treatroktite claimant,” but need only assign those
opinions “controlling weight” ithey are “well-supported by mexilly acceptable clinical and
laboratory diagnostic techniques and . . . not inconsistent vatbthier substantial evidence in
[the] case record.’Cichocki v. Astrue534 F. App’x 71, 74 (2d Cir. 2013) (summary order)
(quotingGreen-Younger v. Barnhai335 F.3d 99, 106 (2d Cir. 2003); 20 C.F.R. §
404.1527(c)(2)). When the ALJ “do[es] not give treating source’opinion controlling
weight,” she must “apply thiactors listed” in SSA regulations, 20 C.F.R. § 404.1527(c)(2),
including “(1) the frequency, teyth, nature, and extent of ttegent; (2) the amount of medical
evidence supporting the opinion) {Be consistency of the opam with the remaining medical
evidence; and (4) whether tphysician is a specialist.Selian,708 F.3d at 418. After
considering those factors, the ALJ must “compreingely set forth [his] reasons for the weight
assigned to a treatimghysician’s opinion,’Halloran v. Barnhart,362 F.3d 28, 33 (2d Cir.
2004) and provide “good reasd@risr the weight assignedBurgess v. Astru&37 F.3d 117, 129
(2d Cir. 2008).

The Second Circuit has held that “not all exymginions rise to the level of evidence that
is sufficiently substantial to undermitiee opinion of the treating physicianld. at 128. For
example, an expert’s opinion is “not substdntia., not reasonably capable of supporting the

conclusion that the claimant could work where éxpert addressed ordgficits of which the

claimant was not complaining, or where the expert was a consulting physician who did not



examine the claimant and relied entirety an evaluation by a non-physician reporting
inconsistent results.Td. (internal citations and quotations omitted).

The Second Circuit has “cautioned that ALJsustl not rely heavily on the findings of
consultative physicians afteisangle examination,” and haslvised that, ordinarily, “a
consulting physician’s opians or reports should lggven little weight.” Selian,708 F.3d at
419;Cruz v. Sullivan912 F.2d 8, 13 (2d Cir. 1990). Theestion here is whether the ALJ
sufficiently provided “good reasons” for weighittte opinions of the consultative physicians
more heavily than the opiniol$ Gent's treating physiciansSee Burges§37 F.3d at 129.

Although the treating physiciamle applies to the opinions of Dr. Grable-Esposito,
Gent’s neurologist, and Dr. Thomas RocklandniGetreating physician, | conclude that ALJ
Sweeney gave “good reasons” for not affordingttbating sources’ opiniorsontrolling weight.
See Burges$37 F.3d at 129; 20 C.F.R. § 404.1527(c)@pecifically, te ALJ found that
Gent’s treating sources’ opiniomgre only “partially consistenwith the medical evidence of
record as a whole, which showtdt [Gent] experienced some lower back and left leg pain,
tenderness, and numbness due to her stenosis spite, radiculopathynd disc extrusions but
also showed she frequently desped a normal gait and stance wathly mild loss of strength of
the lower extremities.” ALJ Decision, R. at 2Ihe ALJ found that “while [the] evidence
supports some level of physidathitation, it does not supportéhsignificant level of limitation

opined here.”ld.

a. Dr. Grable-Esposito’s Opinion
Gent argues that the ALJ gaoely “partial weight” tothe March 2015 and January 2016
opinions offered by board-certified neurologist Brable-Esposito. Pl.’'s Mem. Supp. Mot. J.

Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at 2. In response Abé states that the March 2015 and January 2016
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opinions were “not consistent with other evidenhat showed [Gentijequently displayed a
normal gait and stance, and [wenef entirely consistent with helocumented activities, such as
taking care of dogs and pigs,dyaitting, light housework and yard work, and shopping.” ALJ
Decision, R. at 211 agree with te ALJ. For example, on March 25, 2015, Dr. Grable-Esposito
wrote that Gent was “limited in walking by sevepgnal stenosis andhfat] this [was] highly
unlikely to change in the next 6 years.” R7@B. The treatment notedleet that the diagnosis
was patrtially related to Gent’s request for Grable-Esposito to sign papers for a handicapped
permit for her car. R. at 773. ConverselyFabruary 11, 2015, Dr. GribEsposito found that
Gent exhibited “normal gait” ancbuld “raise herself on her toen the left leg.” R. at 470.

During the visit, Dr. Grable-Esposito recommetdenservative treatmeononsisting of “heat

and menthol rubs,” as well as “massage for her muscle spasms,” which seems inconsistent with
the intensity noted in the Mar@b, 2015 opinion of “muscle crampimyher back and leg that is
disabling.” R. at 471, 771. Dr. Grable-Esposimssessment of February 11, 2015 is supported
by Nurse Ansaldi’s treatment notesf March 12, 2015 that documentGent’s “gait and station
[as] normal.” R. at 754. Nurse Ansaldi atsmted that Gent was “seated quietly and
comfortably” throughout their sessioid. Of note, Nurse Ansaldi observed a normal gait and
station on March 12, 2015 (Tr. 753); Jur& 2015 (Tr. 757); September 16, 2015 (Tr. 760);
November 16, 2015 (Tr. 763); December 7, 2005 767); June 16, 2016 (Tr. 800); August 4,
2016 (Tr. 812); and September 19, 2016 (Tr. 8I)ring a follow-up visit with Dr. Grable-
Esposito on July 22, 2015, Gent reed that her walking tolerae had increased, but her neck

had “been tight and cracking” from delivering babgs. R. at 776. In light of the conflicting

2 Starting with Gent's first visit on April 12007 and continuing through September 19, 2016,
Nurse Ansaldi’s treatment notes consistently docunhetGent’s gait and station are normal and/or that
she is seated comfortably for the session.
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evidence between Dr. Grable-Esposito’s treatmetds, as well as the treatment notes of Nurse
Ansaldi (i.e., observing a normal gait) and Genptis statements indicating a higher level of
functioning (i.e., delivering baby pigs), | findaththe ALJ provided good reasons for finding Dr.
Grable-Esposito’s opinion on March 25, 2018aling Gent’'s work-related limitations
“partially consistent with the medical/idence of record as a wholeSeeALJ Decision, R. at
20-21, R. at 781.

Finally, on January 20, 2016, Gent returte®r. Grable-Esposito to complete
“disability paperwork.” R. at 778. “In hddanuary 2016 opinion, Dr. Grable-Esposito opined
that [Gent] could sit for four hours per workd#éyat she could stand and walk less than one hour
per workday, that she could lift 10 pounds oazaally, that she would need unscheduled breaks,
that she would be absent from work at least three times per month, and opined that she could not
squat or bend over at all.” ALJ Decision,&.20. The ALJ found Dr. Grable-Esposito’s
opinion inconsistent with eviden in the physician’s own notesattshowed Gent “frequently
displayed a normal gait and stance,” and aidtba higher level of functionality in her
documented daily activitiedd. at 21. Dr. Grable-Esposito dmbt discuss how Gent’s previous
self-reported daily activities comported whir conclusions, nor did she discuss the
inconsistencies between her asses#mand the observations ofiet practitioners. “Moreover,
Dr. Grable-Esposito failed to support her opitsavith objective medical evidence and she
failed to provide a functional assessmaiiGent’s] abilities or limitations.”ld. Nonetheless,
“as a treating source who supparteer opinions with some ajtive medical evidence,” the
ALJ afforded Dr. Grable Espibg’s opinion partial weightld. Although the evidence could
support the opposite result, the salnsial evidence in the recostipports the ALJ’s decision to

give only partial weight t@r. Grable-Esposito’s opinions.
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b. Dr. Thomas Rockland’s Opinion

Gent asserts that the ALJ gave only pawtieight to the Disability Impairment
Questionnaire completed by Dr. Thomas Rockland in February 2017. Indeed, the ALJ found
that Dr. Rockland’s opinion that Gent could nargt for more than ten minutes and could not sit
for more than one hour was “inconsistenth [Gent’s] documented activitiesd. For
example, the medical record contains evidenceGleat did not require ghassistance of others
when engaging in a full range of activities, sashexercising her Labrador Retrievers, attending
concerts driving, grocery shopping, biing out, going to the moes, going to the beach and
starting a clothing businessactivities that presumably requir€ent to stand for more than ten
minutes or sit for more than an hour. Tr48t+50; Activities of Ddy Living, Tr. at 326—-33.

Gent argues that the ALJ committed legal error Byféil[ing] to discuss the rigor of [her] daily
activities and presum[ing] that those activitiesmonstrated a lack of disability;” and (2)

“fail[ing] to mention important qualifying evidee regarding these activities.” Pl.’'s Mem. Supp.
Mot. J. Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at 4-5. Geatgument is misplaced. Although the ability to
perform activities of daily livingby itself, is not enough to estah a lack ofdisability, the
regulations expressly identify “dgiactivities” as adctor the ALJ shouldansider in evaluating
the intensity and persistence of a clainaaymptoms. 20 C.F.R. 8 416.929(c)(3)(i).

In considering activities adaily living, “[t]he issue isnot whether the clinical and
objective findings are consistent with an inapitid perform all substaia activity, but whether
plaintiff's statements about the intensity, pdesise, or functionally limiting effects of [her]

symptoms are consistent with the objective medical and other evideviceris v. Comm’r of

3 “History of Present lliness . . . [h]Joarsenesswas at bar and screaming over band.” R. at 490.
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Soc. Se¢ No. 5:12-CV-1795 MAD/CFH, 2014 WL 14518%at *6 (N.D.N.Y. Apr. 14, 2014).
Furthermore, the Second Circuit has held thatXhJ has discretion to resolve conflicts in the
record, including conflicts with ported activitie®f daily living. See, e.gDomm v. Colvin
579 F. App’x. 27, 28 (2d Cir. 2014) (summary a)déHere, the ALJ pointed to substantial
evidence for giving the narrativeas¢ment of [claimant’s] treaiy physician . . . only probative
weight, noting that [the physician’sgstrictive assessment was indetent with . . . [claimant’s]
testimony regarding her daily functioning.Bpma v. Astrue468 F. App’x. 16, 19 (2d Cir.
2012) (summary order) (not errorfan ALJ to use a claimant’s pi@ipation ina “broad range
of light, non-stressful activiéis” as evidence contradictiagireating source’s opinion).

Contrary to Gent'’s allegations, the Akpecifically acknowledged Gent’s testimony
regarding her reliance “on otfseto complete many tasks amousehold chores.” ALJ Decision,
R. at 17. The ALJ concluded, however, that ¢vidence overall “strongly suggest[ed] that
[Gent] retained significant physical and mi& abilities despite her complaintdd. at 24. As a
result, the ALJ determined that Gent’s residuattional capacity did not preclude her from
light work, subject tepecified modificationé. “When determining a claimant’'s RFC, the ALJ is
required to take the claimant’s reports of pamu other limitations i@ account, but is not
required to accept the claimant’s subjectivenptaints without question; he may exercise
discretion in weighing theredibility of the claimat’s testimony in light othe other evidence in
the record.” Genier v. Astrug606 F.3d 46 (2d Cir. 2010) (intetrguotation marks and citations
omitted). In the instant case, it is reasonableonclude that Gent’s daily activities are

inconsistent with Dr. Grable-Bssito’s and Dr. Rockland’s opoms that Gent would be unable

“*“The evidence of record as a whole supports arithat the claimant is limited to the light
exertional level with the identified postural and noesonal limitations in te above residual functional
capacity.” ALJ Decision, R. at 11.
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to, for instance, carry any amouwftweight, sit for more than an hour or “squat or bend over at
all.” Tr. at 784-85, 881. Because a propetiappon of the treatig physician rule could

sustain a finding of no disability on this redpt find that the ALJ’s determination applied the
proper legal standards and waggorted by substantial evidenddurdaugh v. Sec’y of Dep’t

of Health & Human Servs. of U.837 F.2d 99 (2d Cir. 1988).

For the same reasons, | conclude that—afteteoéded not to give Dr. Grable-Esposito’s
or Dr. Rockland’s opinions controlling vggnt—ALJ Sweeney properly evaluated the
persuasiveness of the opinions under the fatistesl in 20 C.F.R. § 404.1527(c)(2)-(6). “An
ALJ need not recite every pieceafidence that contributed to tHecision, so long as the record
‘permits [the court] to glean thationale of an ALJ’s decision.”Cichocki v. Astrug729 F.3d
172, 178 n.3 (2d Cir. 2013) (per curiam). Whsaluating the opinion evidence provided by Dr.
Rockland and Dr. Grable-Esposithe ALJ’s determination was sufficiently specific regarding
the consistency and supportatyilof the opinions. FirsALJ Sweeney observed that the
“significant level of limitation”indicated by Gent’s treating phgmns was inconsistent with
“other evidence that showed [Gent] frequentlypiiyed a normal gait and stance with only mild

loss of strength of the lower extremities;” “and [was] not entirely consistent with her documented
activities, such as taking canédogs and pigs, babysitting, lighousework and yard work and
shopping.” ALJ Decision, R. at 21. The Aalso found that neither physician’s opinion was
supported by “a functional assessineiGent’s] abilities or lintations.” ALJ Decision, R. at
21.

Gent argues that the ALJ did not make cledeifveighed the opinionsder the relevant
factors listed in 20 C.F.R. 8§ 416.927(c)(2)-(6).e8pcally, Gent claims that the ALJ failed to

document whether he considetbd specializations dhe treating physicians, or the length of
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Gent’s treatment. Pl.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. kdlings, Doc. No. 18 at 5. | agree that the ALJ
failed to document whether he considered all of the relevant fdistextin 20 C.F.R. 8§
416.927(c)(2)-(6). Although the regulations reqtive ALJ to consider certain factors, the
Second Circuit has held that no “slavish recitatib each and every famt is required “where
the ALJ’s reasoning and adherenioghe regulation are cleatwater v. Astrugs12 F. App’X.
67, 70 (2d Cir. 2013%kee20 C.F.R. § 404.1527(c) (outlining the factors to be considered). Here,
the ALJ’s reasoning for why he did not give theating physicians’ opian controlling weight

is clear and supported by substantial eviderk®a result, the ALJ’s failure to document “the
frequency, length, nature, and extent of treatmemt;Wwhether the physicrais a specialist” did
not alter the ultimate nondisalylidetermination. Accordinglythe ALJ’s error was harmless.
Because “[iJt is not [my] function to detaine de novo whether [Gent] is disableBrault, 683
F.3d at 447, nor “to resolve evidary conflicts” in the recordAponte v. Sec'’y, Dep’t of Health
& Human Servs 728 F.2d 588, 591 (2d Cir. 1984), thereswaa error in thé\LJ’s decision not

to give controlling weight to Dr. Grablesposito’s and Dr. Rockland’s opinions.

2. Non-Examining Sources

Gent asserts that the ALJ committed erroglwng “greater weight to opinions from
non-examining state agency medical consultan®.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. J. Pleadings, Doc. No.
18 at 3. The Second Circuit has recognized ‘thjhe opinions of non-examining medical
personnel cannot, in themselves and in mosatsins, constitute sutatial evidence to
override the opinion of a treating sourc&thisler v. Sullivan3 F.3d 563, 570 (2d Cir. 1993).
Social Security regulations, hewer, “permit the opinions afonexamining sources to override
treating sources’ opinions, provided theg aupported by evidence in the recortdd’ at 568

(citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1527(f) [nofe) ] and 416.927(f) [now (e) ] $eealsoTitles Il & XVI:
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Consideration of Admin. Findingsf Fact by State Agency Med. & Psychological Consultants &
Other Program Physicians & yhologists at the Admin. Ladudge & Appeals Council, SSR
96-6p, 1996 WL 374180 at *3 (S.S.A. July 2, 1996h @ppropriate circumstances, opinions
from State agency medical and psychologemaisultants and other program physicians and
psychologists may be entitled to greater wethn the opinions of treating or examining
sources.”).

As discussed above, Genttgating providers’ repoft@nd Gent’s self-reported daily
activities were found to beaconsistent with treatment notesntained in the medical record as a
whole. Accordingly, because the ALJ did sotelyrely on the non-examining medical opinions
to discount Gent’s treating provideé reports but instead awarded those opinions greater weight
after deeming them consistent with other evidendbe record, he waaithin the bounds set by
the Social Security regulations and Second Circuit law. Gent also complains that the non-
examining consultants’ opinions were made oneatly empty medical filé Pl.’s Mem. Supp.
Mot. J. Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at 3. Dr. AntoMedina’s case analysis, for example, did not
take into account any treatment records dftarch 2015, or psychiatriecords after June 2015,
which comprise approximately a quarter of the filieee.g, (R. at 610, R. at 651-69; R. at
775-87; R. at 833-46) (exhibits wholly coveringatment periods after May 2015); (R. at 760—
70; R. at 788-92; R. at 800—25xkébits wholly covering psychiatric records after June 2615).

Gent points to SSR 96-6p, which states tred appropriate circumstance in which a non-

® SeeActivities of Daily Living completed by Gent, R. at 326; Activities of Daily Living
completed by Gent, R. at 342; Disability Impairment Questionnaire completed by Dr. Phyllis Grable-
Esposito, R. at 781; Mental Impairment Questionnamrapleted by Nurse Ansaldi, R. at 788; Disability
Impairment Questionnaire completed by Dr. Thomas Rockland, R. at 878.
® Only visits to Dr. Rockland, Dr. Grable-Esposito and Nurse Ansaldi were noted. Visits to
gynecologists and urologists were omitted.
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treating source’s opinion may bergn greater weight than a treagisource is when that opinion
is “based on a review of a complete case rettmatincludes a medical report from a specialist in
the individual’s particular impairment whigrovides more detailed and comprehensive
information than what was available to thdividual’s treating surce.” SSR 96-6p, 1996 WL
374180 at *3. But SSR 96-6p dawst indicate that is thenly circumstance in which a non-
treating source’s opinion can bevgn great weight; in fact, it lggs the quoted sentence with

the phrase “for instance,” indicatingatithere may be other possibilities.

Here, the ALJ relied on his determinatioattthe non-treating socgs’ opinions were
consistent with other evidence in the file. Mmrer, Gent has failed fwoint out any aspect of
the non-treating sources’ opinionstitould not reasonably be coresied to be consistent with
the record, including portions ttie record made after Mar@015. For example, the additional
medical evidence in the record that was naotsedered by the non-treating consultants includes
the following: (1) Dr. Rockland’s examinatis from May 2015 through November 2016; (2)
Nurse Ansaldi’s observations from June 201Séptember 2016; and (3) Dr. Grable-Esposito’s
examinations in July 2015, January 2016, arig 2016. | will address the additional evidence

submitted by each of Gent’s ttewy providers in turn.

a. Additional Evidence Not Considered by Non-Treating Sources

First, the medical records submitted by Rockland after May 2015 primarily deal with
Gent's abdominal complaints. From May 2@&5August 2015, Gent was under the care of Dr.
Rockland for symptoms of nausea, vomitingj dimarrhea that she developed from “working
with pigs.” R. at 661. On Septembe2B]15, Gent’s reason for visiting Dr. Rockland is
documented as “completing a form for her SoSeturity lawyers.” R. at 669. At a follow-up

visit two months later, Gent complained o¢éfing down” because she had “just ended [a] very
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long-term relationship in August.” R. at 679..[Rockland noted that she was “not suicidal” but
she should call her psychiatrist because she guaite“depressed.” R. at 683. In May and July
of 2016, Gent had two routine visits with [Rockland. In May, Gent reported feeling “neck
pain and cracking” after startireg“clothing business with [her] befstend.” R. at 837. In July,
Dr. Rockland removed two benign warts fronm legy. Finally, in November of 2016, Gent
visited Dr. Rockland after suffering a fall andstining a laceration to her lip. Dr. Rockland
ordered physical therapy to deal with Gengskpain and administered a flu shot during the
visit. R. at 858. In sum, treditional visits with Dr. Rocklanddd little to what is already in
the record about Gent’s “disctiemy of the lumbar spine, aiety, and deprgsion.” Compl.,

Doc. No. 1 at T 4. If anything, the evidenapports the ALJ’s findinghat Gent “retained
significant physical and mentabilities despite her complairitsALJ Decision, R. at 24.

From June 2015 to September 2016, Nurse Ansaldi documented an additional seven
visits with Gent. With few exceptions, Nerénsaldi’'s mental status examinations and
impressions are nearly the same for all of tls&si noting that Gent i&lert, cooperative and
easy to engage.” R. at 803. Moreover, hait‘gnd station are normal [and she is] [s]eated
quietly and comfortably.”ld. Gent’s visit on August 4, 2016 stds out. During the visit, Nurse
Ansaldi notes that Gent “feels terrible,” and hdeetfis tearful. R. at 816. She documents,
however, that “there is no evidence of suicit@micidal or violentdeation . . . [and the]

MMSE revealed adequate recent knowledge, nmgnadtention, concentration, language use and
fund of knowledge.” R. at 816. The followg month Nurse Ansaldi notes Gent's improved
mood and bright affect. Nurgesaldi's treatment notes overall support the ALJ’s finding that
Gent “experienced some symptoms of depressioxiety, anger, and p& during the relevant

period but also showed she geally appeared alert and cooptive with adequate memory,
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concentration, and attention.” ALJ DecisionaR24. Thus, there is no reasonable probability
that the outcome of the ALJ’s decision wdbllave been different had the non-examining
physicians reviewed Nurse Ansaldi’s treatthnotes from June 2015 to September 2016.
Finally, Dr. Grable-Esposito treated Genttbree separate occasions that were not
considered by the non-examining sourcesly- 28, 2015; January 20, 2016; and, July 20, 2016.
In July 2015, Gent presented with a “new peoblof neck pain anparaspinal/periscapular
muscle spasm and trigger points . . . [that was] filadt related to recent vomiting . . . .” R. at
777. Dr. Grable-Esposito referred Gent to phaidicerapy. In January, Dr. Grable-Esposito
“spent the majority of the 40 mi visit filling out a detailed quetionnaire for her disability
application.” R. at 780. Gengturned for a follow up visit iduly of 2016. During the final
visit, Dr. Grable-Esposito noted that Gent'sdex|[was] stable,” and she was “going out more
and being more active,” although she was “unableail barefoot due to foot discomfort.” R.
at 833. Again, | find that the evidence submitbgdr. Grable-Esposito is consistent with and
duplicative of the evidence that was before the-axamining sources when they rendered their

opinions.

b. Critical Objective Tests

Gent contends that the non-examining phgsis failed to consider “critical objective

testing,” including, an MRI completed in February 2015, and an EMG/NIG® May 2014 that

720 C.F.R. § 404.970(a)(5) provides that the égdp Council will consider new evidence “that is
new, material, and relates to the period on orreettoe date of the hearing decision, and there is a
reasonable probability that the additional evidence would change the outcome of the decision.”

8 Electromyography (EMG) is often performedmgside NCS (nerve condition studies) to help
detect the presence, location, and extent of diseasedaimage nerves and muscles. In an EMG, nerves
in muscles are stimulated through electrodes inserted into the muscle via small needles. The electrodes
test electrical signals in the muscle. 2 Attorneys Medical Deskbook § 17:14. Nerve conduction studies
(NCS) test the velocity of a nerve impulse. 1 Attorneys Medical Deskbook § 5:16.

20



showed “mild-to-moderate, mostly chronic, |e& radiculopathy with renervation changes.”
Pl.’s Supp. Mem., Doc. No. 24 at 3. Gent'succterization of the non-examining physicians’
reports is inaccurate. The Disability Deteration Explanation dated June 2015, specifically
notes both the EMG and the MRI in the “Findingd-att and Analysis of Evidence.” R. at 70.
The state agency consultants relied on “ro&dand other information [including Gent's] age
and education,” to determine that Gent’s conditf “chronic back pain due to spinal stenosis
and post-discectomy” was “not severe enough to Keef from working.” R. at 73, 80. Hence,
the state agency consultants’ mipns were not inconsistent witlther evidence in the file.

In Camille v. Colvinthe Second Circuit rejected argument that a non-examining
source was “stale” solely because that source failed to review later submitted evidence, and the
“additional evidence [did] not raise doubts as @ rtkliability of [the non-examining source’s]
opinion.” 652 F. App’x 25, 28 n.4 (2d Cir. 201@ecause the additional evidence did not differ
materially from the opinions that the non-exaiminphysician did consider, the Second Circuit
found that the ALJ committed no error by relying on the non-examining physiciaidere, the
ALJ should have discussed more fully the evideeegewed by the state agency consultants. In
light of the entire record, howevehe error does not warrant a remadhong v. U.S. Dep't of
Justice 480 F.3d 104, 117 (2d Cir. 2006) (where ersdrarmless, remand is not warranted).
Even in the face of an oversight, the ALJ’s dam may be upheld if the error was “harmless,”
that is, if other “substantial evidencetire record” supports ¢hALJ’s conclusionsMcintyre v.
Colvin, 758 F.3d 146, 152 (2d Cir. 201Zhong 480 F.3d at 117 (“when overwhelming
evidence in the record makes it clear thatshme decision is inevitable,” remand is not
warranted)Kohler v. Astrug546 F.3d 260, 269 (2d Cir. 2008)asng that harmless error may

not necessitate remand to agency).
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3. Nurse Kitty Ansaldi

Gent argues that the ALJ'®dsion improperly gave “pa#l weight’ to the opinions
from treating Nurse Ansaldi rencabel in May 2016.” Specifically, the ALJ wrote that he gave
“partial weight” or “little weight” to Nurse KittyAnsaldi because her opinion was “only partially
consistent with the medical evidence of mecas a whole.” ALJ Decision, R. at 22.
Furthermore, “Nurse Ansaldi failed to suppleer opinions with objective medical evidence and
her findings [were] inconsistemtith her own mental status axination findings, which showed
no significant or persistenbocentration or cooperation ptems.” ALJ Decision, R. at 22.

In the instant case, the treating physicide does not apply to Nurse Ansaldi’s opinion
because, as Gent notes, a nurse practitioner smtécceptable medical [source] within the
meaning of the regulations (20 C.F.R1%8.912 and § 416.927(a)(2)).” Pl.’'s Mem. Supp. Mot.
J. Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at 6. “[N]urse pragtigrs are considered ‘other’ medical sources . . .
but their opinions are not entitled to the samegght as the opinions of an acceptable medical
source.” Id. (citing 20 C.F.R. 8 404.1513(d)(8pcial Security Ruling 06-03p, 2006 WL
2329939). Although the regulations differentibt#ween “acceptable medical sources” and
“other sources” (with nurse practitioners fallimgo the latter category), an ALJ is nonetheless
required to review and account ft evidence in the case recorBee Jones-Reid v. Astrg34
F. Supp. 2d 381 (D. Conn. 2012Jf'd 515 F. App’x. 32 (2d Cir. 2013).

Gent argues that “opinions from non-accepahbkédical sources — such as statements
from a treating nurse — must be consideredkitermining ‘the severity of [the claimant’s]
impairment(s) and how it affects [the claimangsjlity to do work.” Pl.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. J.
Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at 7 (citing 20 C.F.R. 8§ 416.913@#;alsdSocial Security Ruling 06-
03p, 2006 WL 2329939). Gent's argument thatAhé erred by “not fully and appropriately
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considering Ansaldi’s opinions,” however nst persuasive. Pl.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. J.
Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at 7. | find that theJAd_assignment of “partial weight” to the opinion
of Nurse Ansaldi is supportdry substantial evidence in the record; moreover, it reflects
consideration of the treatinglagonship, as well as the faecs listed in SSA regulations, 20
C.F.R. § 404.1527(c)(2).

First, the ALJ considered Nurse Ansadpinion as “a treating source with a
longitudinal history of treatinfGent’s] condition.” ALJ Dedion, R. at 22. Next, the ALJ
determined that Nurse Ansaldi’s opinions wendy “partially consistent with the medical
evidence of record as a wholehich showed that the claimaetperienced some symptoms of
depression, anxiety, anger, andhigeduring the relevant period balso showed she generally
appeared alert and cooperative with adégju@emory concentration, and attentioihd. Finally,
the ALJ found that Nurse Ansaldi’s opiniorfleeting a “moderate-to-marked level of
limitation” was inconsistent with Gent’s documented activitiles. Gent cites to a Mental
Impairment Questionnaire completed by Nubssaldi on May 16, 2016 as support for Gent’'s
“mental limitations.” Tr. 788-92; Pl.’s Mem. Supyot. J. Pleadings, Doc. No. 18 at 7-8. The
guestionnaire, however, is imsistent with Nurse Ansaldiprogress notes dated between
November of 2005 and March of 2015. In the ¢joesaire, for example, Nurse Ansaldi lists
the following signs and symptoms as suppari@ent’s diagnosis: obsessions or compulsions,
suicidal ideation, difficulty thinking or caentrating, easy distractibility, agitation, and
pressured speech. The progress notes, on the other hand, consistently find Gent “cooperative and

easy to engage,” furthermore, she finds that Gepieech is “spontaneous, with normal rate and
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volume.”® Tr. 502-608. Nurse Ansaldi notes than@e“articulation and coherence are
excellent” and “there is no evides of formal thought disorder . . . no evidence of delusions . . .
no obsessions, compulsions or phobias . . . neaeel of suicidal . . . ideation, intention or
planning.” Id. at 502. Furthermore, the “MMSE revedladequate recent and remote memory,
attention, concentration, languagee and fund of knowledgeld. Finally, Ansaldi found that
Gent’s “[jlJudgment regarding persalmatters appear[ed] adequatel.” Given the conflict
between the Mental Impairment Questionnaire @hér evidence in the record, the ALJ did not
err in choosing to give partial weight to Nurse Ansaldi’s opiniBaeVeino v. Barnhart312

F.3d 578, 588 (2d Cir. 2002) (“Genuine cortBiin the medical evidence are for the

Commissioner to resolve.”).

B. Did the ALJ Properly Evaluate Gent’s Testimony?

Gent asserts that the ALJ etr@hen he found that Gentsvn statements regarding the
“intensity, persistence, and limity effects of her symptoms” weftaot entirely consistent with
the medical evidence and otherd®nce in the record.” Pl.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. J. Pleadings,
Doc. No. 18 at 11.

When evaluating the credibility of a claimant’s testimony, in addition to considering the
objective medical evidence in the record, A€ must consider the following factors:

1. The individual’'s daily activities;

2. The location, duration, frequency, and msi¢y of the individual’s pain or other

symptoms;

° From December 2005 to March 2015, Nurse Angaamination notes consistently find that
Gent is “alert, oriented and cooperative,” hee egntact is direct, and her speech is normal and
spontaneous. Her mood and affect, andther hand, vary with each visit.
24



3. Factors that precipitate and aggravate the symptoms;

4. The type, dosage, effectiveness, and digets of any medicatiothe individual takes
or has taken to alleviagmin or other symptoms;

5. Treatment, other than medicatj the individual receives tias received for relief of
pain or other symptoms;

6. Any measures other than treatment the iddi&i uses or has used to relieve pain or
other symptoms (e.g., lying flat on his or lback, standing for 15 to 20 minutes every
hour, or sleeping on a board); and

7. Any other factors concernirlge individual’s functional mitations and restrictions
due to pain or other symptoms.

Titles Il & XVI: Evaluation of Symptoms in Disdlity Claims: Assessing the Credibility of an
Individual’s Statements, SSR 96-7996 WL 374186 at *3 (SSA July 2, 1996).

The ALJ found Gent’s testimony regarding theent of both her physical and her mental
limitations to be not entirely credible. Withspaect to the physical limitations, the ALJ does not
appear to have explicitly disssed many of the SSP 96-7p factors—he discussed what he viewed
as inconsistencies with the objective medaatience and treatments, and evidence regarding
Gent’s ability to engage in the activiief daily living. ALJ Decision, R. at 20.

With respect to the mental health issuesspite making an earliéinding that Gent
suffered from the “severe impairments” of degres and anxiety, the ALJ also stated that the
extent of the limitations about which Gent conipéal were “not entirelgonsistent with the
medical evidence and other evidemté¢he record.” ALJ Decisn, R. at 19. He stated that:
“evidence contained in the redostrongly suggests that thaichant [retained] significant

physical and mental abilities despite her complainkd.at 20.
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For instance, despite testifig that “she experiences pamittacks several times per
week,” “that she lives in a constant statee#rf” and “that she oftetioes not complete personal
hygiene tasks due to her mental impairmentg”AhJ observed that Gent self-reported “going
out to restaurants . . . spend[ing] time with friends . . . go[ing] to public places, such as the beach
or park . . . play[ing] games with her friends. start[ing] a clothindpusiness with a friend,”
activities that “strongly suggest[etljat [Gent] retained significaphysical and mental abilities
despite her complaints.Id.

Furthermore, despite Gent's testimony tsla¢ “[was] unable to work due to her
difficulties with sitting, standingor walking for any period of time and due to her inability to
lift,” she also “reported to her providers tisdte [had] been going outside and [had] become
more and more active duritige relevant period.’ld. at 18-19. The ALJ notes that the medical
record “consistently showed that [Gent] hadbamal gait and stancené showed she could sit
comfortably during visits with mviders, which strongly suggestise . . . retained significant
sitting, standing, and walking diby despite her complaints.Id. at 19.

The ALJ correctly “t[ook] the claimant’s perts of pain and other limitations into
account” and “exercise[d] discretiam weighing the credibility of the claimant’s testimony in
light of the other evidnce in the record.Genier, 606 F.3d at 49. He did not, and “[was] not
required to[,] accept the claimant’s seitive complaints without questionld.; cf. Baladi v.
Barnhart 33 F. App’x. 562, 564 (2d Cir. 2002) amary order) (“treating physician’s
opinions . . . based upon plaintgfsubjective complaints of peand unremarkable objective
tests” were “not ‘well supporteby medically acceptable clinicahd laboratory diagnostic
techniques’™ and not entitled “controlling weight”) (cting 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1527(d)(2),

416.927(d)(2))Calabrese v. Astrye858 F. App’x. 274, 277 (2d Cir. 2009) (summary order)
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(“[W]here the ALJ’s decision to discredit a ¢fzant’s subjective complaints is supported by
substantial evidence, [the couniust defer to his findings.”).

There is evidence in the record that is mfar@rable to Gent, and if | were deciding the
case in the first instance, it migh¢ reasonable to conclude tk&nt’s impairments were more
disabling than the ALJ allowedsee Campbell v. Astru896 F. Supp. 2d 446, 455 (D. Conn.
2009). Under the Social Security Act, however “[iJt is the function of the Secretary, not the
reviewing courts, to resolve ewdtiary conflicts” and “to determine . . . whether [Gent was]
disabled.” Aponte 728 F.2d at 591 (other internal a#tgons omitted). “Even where the
administrative record may also adequately supgantrary findings on particular issues, the
ALJ’s factual findings must bgiven conclusive effect dong as they are supported by
substantial evidence.Genier, 606 F.3d at 49 (internal quotation marks omitted). Because the
ALJ’s opinion adequately meets that “very deféig@hstandard, | affirm the decision below.

See Brault683 F.3d at 448.
V.  Conclusion

For the reasons stated, | deny Gent's Mof@mnJudgment on the Pleadings, Doc. No. 18,

and grant the Commissioner’s Mari to Affirm, Doc. No. 22. Té Clerk is directed to enter

judgment for the Commissioner and close the case.

So ordered at Bridgeport, Connecticut, thi¥ 2@y of March 20109.

& STEFAN R. UNDERHILL
Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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